

# **Canberra Accord**

# Rules and Procedures

Approved April 23, 2009 Effective April 23, 2009

## **RULES AND PROCEDURES**

## **Table of Contents**

In	troduction	4
	Characteristics, Principles, and Criteria Common to all Signatory stems	5
	1.1 General characteristics	5
	1.2 Common agreed principles	5
	1.3 Criteria for accreditation/validation/recognition	5
	1.4 INQAAHE Guidelines of Good Practice (GGP)	6
	1.5 UNESCO-UIA Charter for Architectural Education	7
2.0	) Review Processes	9
2	2.1 Periodic Reviews of Signatory Systems	9
	a. Periodic review process and timetable	9
	b. Reviewers and their responsibilities	9
	c. Periodic review documentation	10
	d. Periodic review visit	11
	e. Periodic review report	11
	f. Possible outcomes of periodic reviews	11
	g. Requests for reconsideration	12
	h. Costs	14
2	2.2 Reviews of Systems Seeking Provisional Status	14
	a. Applying for provisional status	14
	b. Initial documentation	15
	c. Provisional status review visit and documentation	16
	d. Provisional status review team and its responsibilities	16
	e. Provisional review report	17
	f. Possible outcomes of provisional status reviews	17
	g. Requests for reconsideration	17

h. Costs	18
i. Participation during provisional status period	18
j. Transfer to signatory status	18
2.3 Mentoring New Systems	18
a. Advisory reviews	18
b. Secretariat advice	19
c. Advisory review report	19
d. Visit to observe a signatory system	19
e. Costs	19
2.4 Review Teams	19
a. Nominating and selecting reviewers	19
b. Composition of review teams	20
2.5 Report Policies and Templates	21
3.0 General Meetings	22
4.0 Chair	23
5.0 Secretariat	24
6.0 Communications and Promotion of the Accord	25
APPENDIX A: Schedule of First Round of Periodic Reviews	26
APPENDIX B: Periodic Review Report Template	27
APPENDIX C: Provisional Review Report Template	36
APPENDIX D: Advisory Review Report Template	45
APPENDIX E: Characteristics, Principles, and Criteria for Assessing Substantial Equivalency	54
APPENDIX F: Accepted Definitions/Glossary of Terms	59

#### **RULES AND PROCEDURES**

#### Introduction

Accreditation/validation/recognition is a quality assurance mechanism to recognize those program/mes in which graduates acquire certain competencies. The signatory systems to the Canberra Accord have concluded that their accreditation/validation/recognition systems for academic program/mes in architecture have comparability and that such program/mes are substantially equivalent in terms of satisfying the academic requirements for the practice of architecture at the professional level. Accreditation/validation/recognition systems recognized by the Canberra Accord operate within internationally accepted guidelines for good practice. Graduates with qualifications from accredited/validated/recognized program/mes in architecture recognized by the Canberra Accord are expected to have commonly held attributes including the ability to:

- 1. apply the acquired knowledge for the design, operation, and improvement of systems, processes, and environments;
- 2. formulate and solve complex architectural problems;
- 3. understand and resolve the environmental, economic, and societal implications of architectural work;
- 4. communicate effectively with clients, peers, and community;
- 5. engage in lifelong learning and professional development following graduation;
- 6. act in accordance with the ethical principles of the profession of architecture;
- 7. advocate for better human environments in contemporary society.

The Accord embraces the key principles of the International Network of Quality Assurance Agencies in Higher Education (INQAAHE) *Guidelines of Good Practice* (GGP) as its benchmark for international good practice for quality assurance agencies (see summary at 1.4 below); and is reflective of the core principles of the UNESCO-UIA *Charter for Architectural Education* (revised version 2005) (see 1.5 below) and the relevant sections of the UIA *Accord on Recommended International Standards on Professionalism in Architectural Practice* (revised version 2005) as international benchmarks for satisfying the academic requirements for the practice of architecture at the professional level.

# 1.0 Characteristics, Principles, and Criteria Common to all Signatory Systems

#### 1.1 General characteristics

Organizations running accreditation/validation/recognition systems covered by the Accord are expected to have the following general characteristics:

- a. Be named organizations (authorities, agencies, or institutions) that are representative of the architecture profession and which have statutory powers or recognized professional authority for accrediting/validating/recognizing program/mes designed to satisfy the academic requirements for admission to the profession in the locality where accreditation/validation/recognition takes place, subject to additional requirements imposed by local regulations and practice requirements;
- b. Be independent of the academic institutions, professional organizations, and government agencies delivering accredited/validated/recognized program/mes within their jurisdiction;
- c. Have an active, robust accreditation/validation/recognition system in place, with established processes, procedures, and practices that are well-documented:
- d. Have a record of accomplishment in accreditation/validation/recognition with sufficient experience and magnitude of operation (normally a minimum of five programs over at least seven years; see 2.2.a).

#### 1.2 Common agreed principles

Systems for the accreditation/validation/recognition of architecture program/mes shall be underpinned by common agreed principles including:

- a. the system must operate at all times in accordance with a high standard of professionalism, ethics, and objectivity;
- b. the process must be transparent and consistent;
- the activities must be conducted in relation to individual program/mes in confidence and with firmly established procedures and conditions for objective and consistent evaluation;
- d. those involved in the accreditation/validation/recognition process must be knowledgeable and competent in matters related to architectural accreditation/validation/recognition, education, and practice;
- e. accreditation/validation/recognition is of individual program/mes/academic awards/qualifications and not of institutions;
- f. evaluations of specified academic program/mes are conducted by peer reviewers and must include review of the program/me's self-evaluation documents, a site visit, and inspection of student work;
- g. the standard of students' work should be the main criterion in determining accreditation/validation/recognition;
- h. levels of physical, financial, human, and information resources should be appropriate to the context of the institution.

#### 1.3 Criteria for accreditation/validation/recognition

The criteria for accreditation/validation/recognition should address the following:

- a. a suitable environment to deliver the program/me;
- b. adequate leadership for the program/me;

- c. suitably qualified people teaching in the program/me;
- d. a curriculum providing a broad preparation for architectural practice;
- e. appropriate entry, progression, and exit standards;
- f. adequate human, physical, financial, and information resources to support the program/me;

#### and shall include:

- g. periodic re-evaluation to maintain accreditation/validation/recognition status;
- h. a period of academic study at, or in association with a university/tertiary-level institution sufficient to demonstrate skills, abilities, attitudes, and knowledge at a defined standard adequate for initial entry to the architecture profession. In order to gain the balanced acquisition of subjects and capabilities, this period of academic study should be not less than the equivalent of five years full-time studies.

#### 1.4 INQAAHE Guidelines of Good Practice (GGP)

As external quality assurance agencies (EQAA), signatory systems should embrace the key principles of the *Guidelines of Good Practice* (2005 ed.) published by INQAAHE. These are summarized as follows.

#### The EQAA:

- a. has a written mission statement or set of objectives that takes into account its cultural and historical context;
- b. has adequate and accessible human and financial resources to conduct external evaluation effectively and efficiently in accordance with its mission statement and its methodological approach;
- c. has a system of continuous quality assurance of its own activities that emphasizes flexibility in response to the changing nature of higher education, the effectiveness of its operations, and its contribution towards the achievement of its objectives;
- d. informs and responds to the public in accordance with applicable legislation and the cultural context of the EQAA;
- e. recognizes that institutional and programmatic quality and quality assurance are primarily the responsibility of the higher education institutions themselves; respects the academic autonomy, identity and integrity of the institutions or programs; applies standards or criteria that have been subject to reasonable consultation with stakeholders; and aims to contribute to both quality improvement and accountability of the institution;
- f. has documents that indicate clearly what the EQAA expects of the institution;
- g. has documentation concerning self-evaluation which explains the purposes, procedures, process, and expectations in the self-evaluation process. The documents also include the standards used, the decision criteria, the reporting format, and other information needed by the higher education institution;
- h. has clear documentation concerning the external evaluation that states the standards used, assessment methods and processes, decision criteria, and other information necessary for external review;
- evaluations address both the higher education institution's own selfassessment and external reference points, such as judgments by knowledgeable peers or relevant legislation;
- i. has appropriate methods and policies for appeals;

- k. collaborates with other EQAAs, if possible, in areas such as exchange of good practices, capacity building, review of decisions, provision of transnational education, joint projects, and staff exchanges;
- I. has policies relating to both imported and exported higher education.

#### 1.5 UNESCO-UIA Charter for Architectural Education

In any system of accreditation/validation/recognition it is of prime importance to establish the standards of achievement to be attained and the means of assessment through peer group review. Of equal importance is the need to encourage diversity, innovation, and development. This balance between benchmarking appropriate international standards and encouraging a variety of approaches are central to the principles of the Accord. To this end, signatory systems are expected to be reflective of the core principles of the UNESCO-UIA *Charter for Architectural Education.* In particular, signatory systems should ensure the acquisition of generic student skills, knowledge, and competencies including the following, identified in the *Charter*:

- 1. An ability to create architectural designs that satisfy both aesthetic and technical requirements.
- 2. An adequate knowledge of the history and theories of architecture and the related arts, technologies, and human sciences.
- 3. Knowledge of the fine arts as an influence on the quality of architectural design.
- 4. An adequate knowledge of urban design, planning, and the skills involved in the planning process.
- 5. An understanding of the relationship between people and buildings, and between buildings and their environment, and of the need to relate buildings and the spaces between them to human needs and scale.
- 6. An understanding of the profession of architecture and the role of the architect in society, in particular in preparing briefs that take into account social factors.
- 7. An understanding of the methods of investigation and preparation of the brief for a design project.
- 8. An understanding of the structural design, constructional, and engineering problems associated with building design.
- 9. An adequate knowledge of physical problems and technologies and of the function of buildings so as to provide them with internal conditions of comfort and protection against the climate.
- 10. The design skills necessary to meet building users' requirements within the constraints imposed by cost factors and building regulations.
- 11. An adequate knowledge of the industries, organisations, regulations, and procedures involved in translating design concepts into buildings and integrating plans into overall planning.

And, that the following special points be considered in the development of a curriculum:

- 1. Awareness of responsibilities toward human, social, cultural, urban, architectural, and environmental values, as well as architectural heritage.
- 2. Adequate knowledge of the means of achieving ecologically sustainable design and environmental conservation and rehabilitation.

- 3. Development of a creative competence in building techniques, founded on a comprehensive understanding of the disciplines and construction methods related to architecture.
- 4. Adequate knowledge of project financing, project management, cost control, and methods of project delivery.
- 5. Training in research techniques as an inherent part of architectural learning, for both students and teachers.

#### 2.0 Review Processes

#### 2.1 Periodic Reviews of Signatory Systems

The accreditation/validation/recognition system for which each signatory system is responsible shall be subject to periodic comprehensive review and report by representatives of the other signatory systems at intervals of not more than six years. The Secretariat shall maintain a schedule and set of procedures for the implementation of such reviews and reports, including a description of the documentation and self assessment required for the review team visit. The adoption of, or amendment to, the schedule and procedures, shall require a positive vote by at least two-thirds of the signatory systems. The signatory systems shall make every reasonable effort to comply with the schedule and documentation requirements.

#### a. Periodic review process and timetable

The signatory system whose accreditation/validation/recognition system is to be reviewed shall be given at least nine months' notice of the intended action, and shall be invited to work with the Secretariat to establish a suitable implementation of the process, timetable, and practical arrangements, for consideration by the review team. The review process shall include observing an accreditation/validation/recognition visit to an educational institution offering a professional degree program/me in architecture that has been accredited/validated/recognized by the signatory system, and, whenever feasible, attending the meetings at which the outcomes of such a visit are discussed and recommended. The review process should allow the review team sufficient opportunity to observe the normal processes and procedures of the accreditation/validation/recognition system being reviewed, with access to related documentation, in order to enable an understanding of how academic outcomes and standards are evaluated.

The proposed schedule for the first round of periodic reviews is shown at Appendix A.

Any signatory system that effects a significant change to its accreditation/validation/recognition criteria, policies, or procedures is obliged to report such a change to the Secretariat and thereby to provide the other signatory systems with the opportunity to require that the scheduled review and report be brought forward.

#### b. Reviewers and their responsibilities

All periodic reviews of signatory systems will be conducted by two people representing the Accord (one educator and one practitioner) and a local facilitator nominated by the signatory system to be visited and acceptable to the Accord. Reviewers must be fluent in English. The facilitator must be fluent in both English and the local language. A report to be submitted for the review of all signatory systems will be written by the representatives of the Accord with an opportunity for the system visited to review it for errors of fact.

The signatory system responsible for the accreditation/validation/recognition system to be reviewed shall be advised by the Secretariat of the qualifications of the reviewers. The signatory system may challenge no more than one proposed reviewer on the basis of a conflict of interest (see below). In the event that such an objection is lodged, the Secretariat shall take such steps as are necessary and appropriate to resolve the situation.

Conflicts of interest are defined to include the following:

- 1. Graduation from an institution with a degree accredited/validated/recognized by the system being visited;
- 2. Close association with administrative or faculty personnel in a program/me accredited/validated/recognized by the system being reviewed:
- 3. Having had a position associated with one of the validated/accredited/recognized program/mes (e.g., part-time teaching, external examiner, studio critic, etc.);
- 4. Having relatives or associates who are affiliated with a program/me accredited/validated/recognized by the system being reviewed;
- 5. Having been shown to hold a preconceived opinion based on the type or location of the system to be reviewed, its reputation, the underlying philosophy of the system, or the extent to which program/mes accredited/validated/recognized by the signatory system are offered at the undergraduate or graduate level, and so on.

#### c. Periodic review documentation

Periodic reviews of signatory systems will include an evaluation of the following documentation:

- 1. A self-evaluation by the signatory system that documents any changes in conditions, criteria, and/or procedures (or the equivalent) and analyzes and maps those changes in light of the principles of the Accord identified in section 1.0 of these Rules and Procedures; reviews recent challenges to the system (legal or otherwise) and the signatory system's response to the challenges; and identifies critical issues for the system in the near future (1-5 years).
- Current and relevant documents describing the criteria, policies, and procedures of the system to be reviewed. Types of documents that can be offered as evidence that the system continues to comply with Canberra Accord criteria would include arrangements for visits, selection and training of visiting teams, ratification processes, etc.

All official documentation and communication directly relevant to the Canberra Accord reviews must be in English.

The self-evaluation is limited to 10 pages for the self-evaluation described in paragraph c.1. The total file, including the self-evaluation and supplemental materials, is limited to 2 MBs.

#### d. Periodic review visit

The reviewers and the local facilitator will accompany a visiting team from the host signatory system as it reviews a program/me accredited/validated/recognized by its system. The host signatory system must demonstrate with exhibits of student work available to the reviewers from the Accord that the level and content of studies of its accredited/validated/recognized program/mes continue to be substantially equivalent to those of the current signatory systems.

Both reviewers and the facilitator will visit the administrative office for the signatory system and review its procedures, and, should be provided access to minutes of meetings in which accreditation/validation/recognition decisions are made.

#### e. Periodic review report

Reports written by the Accord reviewers will follow a template (see Appendix B), appropriate to the type of visit, which will be provided by the Secretariat. Each review team will make a confidential recommendation to the members of the Accord based upon the team's review of the documents submitted and their observations on the visit.

The report will be sent to the Secretariat. The Secretariat will review the document (without the confidential recommendation), with the advice of the signatory system visited, for corrections of errors of fact and then submit the report to the signatory systems of the Accord.

#### f. Possible outcomes of periodic reviews

The recommendations open to the review team shall be as follows:

- that the accreditation/validation/recognition system in question be accepted by the other signatory systems, for a period of six years, as leading to outcomes substantially equivalent to those from the other systems; or
- that the accreditation/validation/recognition system in question be accepted by the other signatory systems, for a period of not more than three years, subject to the responsible system providing, within six months, a report which satisfies to the other signatory systems that adequate steps are being taken to address the specific deficiencies or concerns identified by the review team; or
- 3. that the accreditation/validation/recognition system in question has such serious deficiencies with respect to the characteristics, principles, and/or criteria required of signatory systems (see Section 1.0), that the signatory reverts immediately to provisional status. In such circumstances, a further review visit is arranged, involving at least one of the original reviewers, within a period of not more than two years after the date of the original review visit. On the basis of this follow-up visit, the review team shall

recommend to the other signatories either (i) reinstatement of the signatory system from provisional to signatory status, or (ii) termination of provisional status and exclusion from the Accord.

A motion for termination from the Accord shall require support from two-thirds of the signatory systems. No such termination shall, of itself, affect the status of the academic qualifications gained by any graduate who has completed the professional degree program/me in architecture prior to that termination. A decision to terminate a system's membership in the Accord shall require an affirmative, unanimous vote, less one, by the signatory systems.

Following a period of two years the terminated signatory system may reapply for provisional status.

Decisions on recommendations from the reviewers are made by the full membership of the Accord. Votes may be taken by voice or teleconference, email, or in face-to-face meetings. In all cases, these votes will be coordinated by the Secretariat.

#### g. Requests for reconsideration

Signatory systems may request reconsideration of an action regarding a review visit. When making a request for reconsideration, the signatory system must be prepared to present evidence that demonstrates either of the following is true:

- The decision is not supported by factual evidence cited in the record or
- The review team failed to comply substantially with established rules and procedures and any such departure significantly affected the decision.

Reconsiderations may not be requested on the grounds of the failure of the signatory system to provide information to the Secretariat and/or the review team in a timely manner.

Reconsiderations are conducted by the full membership of the Accord. The filing of a request for a reconsideration automatically delays implementation of the review decision. All reconsiderations are conducted on the record and without a hearing.

#### 1. Initiating a Reconsideration:

- a. The reconsideration must be requested by the chief executive officer of the signatory system within 30 calendar days of receiving the Accord's review decision.
- b. The request is sent to the Accord Secretariat.
- c. The request must identify the incorrect or insufficient factual
- d. information cited by the Accord in support of the decision and/or evidence of the review team's failure to comply with established rules and procedures and that such failure significantly affected the review decision.

- e. The request must be sent by certified mail, return receipt requested.
- f. All days refer to regular calendar days.

#### 2. Reconsideration Sequence.

- a. Upon receiving the request, the Secretariat appoints an individual from a signatory system, not represented on the review team, as the Accord representative to oversee the reconsideration until its conclusion at the next regularly scheduled, general meeting. Other than having participated in the review decision, the signatory representative shall have had no prior involvement with the signatory system.
- b. The Accord representative sends the request for reconsideration to the review team and requests a written response to the assertions of incorrect or insufficient evidence and/or failures of the review team to comply with established procedures.
- c. The Accord representative, using the Periodic Review Report, the signatory system's self-evaluation, the system's request for reconsideration, and the review team's response, shall prepare a written analysis of the issues.
- d. The written analysis is sent to the signatory system and the review team and then the request for reconsideration is added to the agenda for the next regularly scheduled meeting or for a special teleconference meeting.
  - i. The agenda item will include the following background material:
    - 1. The Periodic Review Report.
    - 2. The signatory system's self-evaluation.
    - 3. The signatory system's request for reconsideration.
    - 4. The review team's response.
    - 5. The Accord representative's analysis.
  - ii. If a member of the review team is a signatory system representative, he/she is excused from the deliberations.
  - iii. The signatory system representatives review the record and determine whether to reconsider the review decision. At least a majority of members of the Accord must vote in favor of a motion to reconsider the decision.
  - iv. Reconsideration of the Review Decision.
    - 1. If the motion to reconsider is approved, a new motion on the review action will be made.
    - 2. Any new motion regarding the review decision must be based only on materials provided in the record.
    - 3. Any new motion regarding a reconsidered review decision must have an affirmative unanimous vote, less one, in favor to pass.
  - v. Not less than seven calendar days after the meeting where the membership decision was reconsidered, the

- Accord Secretariat shall send the signatory system the decision. This letter will include reasons supporting it as recorded by the Accord representative.
- vi. The decision is final and may not be reconsidered further.

#### h. Costs

All costs, except transportation from the reviewer's home country to the site of the visit, will be borne by the signatory system to be visited. Transportation to the site will be the responsibility of the signatory system providing the reviewer. Costs for the signatory system being visited will include local travel and boarding accommodations.

#### 2.2 Reviews of Systems Seeking Provisional Status

a. Applying for provisional status

Admission of new signatory systems to the Accord is a two-stage process:

- 1. Stage 1: applying for and being accepted for provisional status following a successful desktop review of the applicant system.
- 2. Stage 2: transfer from provisional to signatory status following a review visit evaluation resulting in a positive recommendation for transfer of status (see 2.2.j below).

A successful admission to provisional status requires:

- 3. An application by letter for provisional status supported by nominations from two of the existing signatory systems.
- 4. An affirmative unanimous vote, less one, by the existing signatory systems following a successful desktop review of the applicant system by the Secretariat.

Applications for provisional status must conform to the guidelines approved from time-to-time by the signatory systems and must be submitted in writing to the Secretariat, supported by nominations from at least two signatory systems. Prior to making the application, applicants will be required to observe an accreditation/validation/recognition visit conducted by one of the existing signatory systems.

Organizations seeking provisional status must provide evidence that their processes, policies, and procedures for granting accreditation/validation/recognition to academic program/mes in architecture are substantially equivalent to those of the existing signatory systems. To be a candidate for provisional status, applicants must have a record of accomplishment in accreditation/validation/recognition with sufficient experience and magnitude of operation (normally a minimum of five program/mes over at least seven years).

During the period of provisional status (normally two years), the accreditation/validation/recognition criteria, policies, and procedures established by the applicant, and the effectiveness with which they are implemented, are subjected to comprehensive review.

The applicant whose accreditation/validation/recognition system is to be reviewed shall be given at least nine months notice of the intended action, and shall be invited to work with the Secretariat to implement a suitable process, timetable, and practical arrangements, for consideration by the review team. The review process shall include observing an accreditation/validation/recognition visit to an educational institution offering a professional degree program/me in architecture that has been accredited/validated/recognized by the applicant, and, whenever feasible, attending the meetings at which the outcomes of such a visit are discussed and recommended. The review process should allow the review team sufficient opportunity to observe the normal processes and procedures of the accreditation/validation/recognition system being reviewed, with access to related documentation, and enable an understanding of how academic outcomes and standards are evaluated, in order to ascertain whether the applicant's system complies with the characteristics, principles, and criteria required of signatory systems of the Accord. (see Section 1.0)

#### b. Initial documentation

Preliminary reviews of systems seeking provisional status will include a desktop evaluation by the Secretariat of the following documentation:

Existing self-evaluations; strategic planning documents; conditions, criteria, and procedures currently in use; a history of the development of the system; and an analysis of the degree to which the system meets the principles of the Accord identified in section 1.0 of these Rules and Procedures (see Appendix E).

All official documentation and communication directly relevant to the Canberra Accord reviews must be in English.

The applicant must demonstrate that robust processes and documentation are in place for the judicious operation of the accreditation/validation/recognition system, substantially equivalent to those of current signatory systems.

The application for provisional status and reports must be submitted to the Secretariat of the Accord in both printed and electronic form at least 18 weeks prior to the next General Meeting of signatory systems.

The self-evaluation is limited to 30 pages for the self-evaluation described in paragraph c.1. The total file, including the self-evaluation and supplemental materials, is limited to 3 MBs.

The precise nature of the application documentation may be agreed in consultation with the Secretariat. Wherever possible, existing standard documents may be used as long as they describe in sufficient detail the

accreditation/validation/recognition procedures, policies, and criteria of the applicant, the context within which the operation takes place, and a list of current program/mes accredited/validated/recognized.

#### c. Provisional status review visit and documentation

During the period of provisional status (normally two years), the accreditation/validation/recognition criteria, policies, and procedures established by the applicant, and the effectiveness with which they are implemented, are subject to comprehensive review. The review shall follow the same general procedures used in periodic reviews for monitoring the performance of signatory systems.

A review team will accompany a visiting team from the applicant system as it reviews a program/me accredited/validated/recognized by its system. The applicant system must demonstrate with exhibits of student work available to the reviewers from the Accord that the level and content of studies of its accredited/validated/recognized program/mes are substantially equivalent to those of current signatory systems.

Both reviewers and the facilitator will visit the administrative office for the system and review its procedures and should be provided access to minutes of meetings in which accreditation/validation/recognition decisions are made.

Reviews of the systems of organizations holding provisional status, applying for signatory status, will include evaluation of the following documentation and review visit by a team of two (one educator, one practitioner):

- 1. A self-study by the applicant that documents any changes in conditions, criteria, and/or procedures (or the equivalent) and analyzes and maps those changes in light of the principles of the Accord identified in section 1.0 of these Rules and Procedures; reviews recent challenges to the system (legal or otherwise) and the system's response to the challenges; and identifies critical issues for the system in the near future (1-5 years).
- Current and relevant documentation describing the criteria, policies, and procedures of the system to be reviewed. Types of documents that might be offered as evidence that the system complies with Canberra Accord criteria would include arrangements for visits, selection and training of visiting teams, ratification processes, etc.

#### d. Provisional status review team and its responsibilities

The review for initial acceptance as a signatory system will be conducted by a team of two persons representing the Accord (one educator and one practitioner) and a local facilitator, nominated by the system to be visited and acceptable to the Accord. The facilitator must be fluent in both English and the local language. The reviewers from the Accord will accompany a team from the host system as it reviews a program/me accredited/validated/recognized by its system. Both reviewers and the

facilitator will visit the administrative office for the system and review its procedures.

A report to be submitted for the review of all signatory systems will be written by the representatives of the Accord with an opportunity for the system visited to review it for errors of fact.

The system to be reviewed shall be advised by the Secretariat of the proposed composition of the review team. The system may challenge no more than one proposed reviewer on the basis of a conflict of interest (see section 2.1.b). In the event that such an objection is lodged, the Secretariat shall take such steps as are necessary and appropriate to resolve the situation.

#### e. Provisional review report

Reports written by the Accord review team will follow a template (see Appendix C), appropriate to the type of visit, which will be provided by the Secretariat. Each review team will make a confidential recommendation to the signatory systems based upon its evaluation of the documents submitted and observations on the visit. The report will be sent to the Secretariat.

The Secretariat will review the document (without the confidential recommendation), with the advice of the system visited, for corrections of errors of fact and then submit the report to the signatory systems of the Accord.

f. Possible outcomes of provisional status reviews

The recommendations open to the review team shall be as follows:

- That the accreditation/validation/recognition system being reviewed should be accepted by the other signatory systems as leading to outcomes substantially equivalent to those of existing signatory systems, and that the system be transferred from provisional to signatory status for a period of six years.
- That the accreditation/validation/recognition system being reviewed should not be accepted by the signatory systems as being substantially equivalent to the existing signatory systems and that the system should continue to have provisional status for a further period of two years.
- 3. Where transfer to signatory status is not recommended, details should be provided of the actions required by the system before it will be considered for further review by the Accord.

#### g. Requests for reconsideration

[See 2.1.q]

#### h. Costs

All costs will be borne by the system to be visited. Costs for the system being visited will include all travel (based on the practices of the system to be visited) and boarding accommodations.

#### i. Participation during provisional status period

Organizations holding provisional status are required to accept the same commitment to interaction and exchange as the signatory systems. They will receive copies of appropriate correspondence and reports, and will be invited to send representatives to all general meetings of the Accord. Representatives of organizations holding provisional status will have the right of audience and debate at such general meetings, but are not permitted to vote.

#### j. Transfer to signatory status

Organizations holding provisional status are eligible to transfer to signatory status following the completion of a successful review process resulting in a report recommending transfer of status. An affirmative unanimous vote, less one, of the signatory systems is required to ratify the transition from provisional status to signatory status.

Where such transfer of status is approved, the recommended recognition by the other signatory systems of the substantial equivalency of the academic qualifications/program/mes concerned shall become effective 1 January in the year in which the new signatory system is admitted to signatory status.

Where transfer from provisional status to signatory status is not approved, but significant progress has been made towards meeting the requirements, the signatory systems may, following a two-thirds positive vote, invite the organization concerned to retain provisional status for a further period of two years. Any such resolution must be accompanied by a statement of the requirements to be satisfied by the relevant organization during that period, and a schedule for completion.

#### 2.3 Mentoring New Systems

Organizations seeking to develop a new accreditation/validation/recognition system or with a nascent system may apply for mentoring and advice from the Secretariat and/or signatory systems to the Accord. Organizations may make connections with any of the agencies represented in the Accord for informal mentoring.

#### a. Advisory reviews

Organizations may request an advisory review by applying through the Secretariat for an expert from the Accord pool of reviewers to visit the applying agency, review appropriate documents, and write a report on its current compliance with respect to the conditions required for provisional and signatory status. This reviewer from the Accord should be teamed with a

facilitator, competent in the local language and in English, chosen by the system and acceptable to the Accord. Such a visit is optional and is not a prerequisite for eligibility to apply for provisional status. All related costs will be borne by the system to be visited, seeking advice.

#### b. Secretariat advice

Organizations may request Secretariat staff to visit their system to explain the rules, procedures, and conditions required for application for provisional and/or signatory status. Such a visit is optional and not a prerequisite for eligibility to apply for provisional status. All related costs will be borne by the system to be visited, seeking advice.

#### c. Advisory review report

The outcome of an advisory visit and review is a report (see Appendix D for template) written by the reviewers and/or Secretariat staff for the use of the system visited. The report will describe the degree to which the necessary conditions for provisional/signatory status have been demonstrated. Such reports are advisory in nature and not a prerequisite for eligibility to apply for provisional status; however, the organization being reviewed can opt to use the report in a future application for provisional status, in which case the report would be circulated to existing signatory systems for information.

#### d. Visit to observe a signatory system

Organizations intending to apply to the Accord for provisional status, should send a representative at least once to observe an accreditation/validation/recognition visit conducted by one of the signatory systems. Arrangements should be made directly between the two systems involved. Such a visit is a prerequisite for eligibility in applying for provisional status. All related costs will be borne by the system seeking provisional status.

#### e. Costs

All costs incurred by a reviewer and the Accord Secretariat in providing advice and/or an advisory visit, including staff time and Secretariat expenses, will be borne by the system seeking advice. The Secretariat will provide an estimate of such costs in advance of undertaking advisory work.

#### 2.4 Review Teams

#### a. Nominating and selecting reviewers

Upon receipt of a written request from the Secretariat, each signatory system shall nominate two representatives, one from an academic background and one from a professional practice background, who are available to observe and report upon the accreditation/validation/recognition system maintained by any other signatory system, or organization seeking provisional/signatory status, and undertake to meet the costs of long distance travel incurred by those representatives.

All those nominated to take part in a review will be required to demonstrate that they have experience in, and subject knowledge relevant to, architectural accreditation/validation/recognition systems. In order to maintain clear lines of responsibility for actions, systems should not list nominees responsible for voting on Accord decisions for their system. No signatory system shall be required by this clause to provide more than one such representative in any calendar year.

Representatives shall be selected by the Secretariat from the list of nominees to form a review team; on any two-person team at least one representative shall be from an academic background and one from a professional practice background. The Secretariat shall take all reasonable steps to ensure that none of the individuals selected through this process has had any substantial prior involvement in, or commitment to the accreditation/validation/recognition system being reviewed.

#### b. Composition of review teams

#### Periodic reviews

Periodic reviews of signatory systems shall be conducted by two people representing the Accord (one educator and one practitioner) and a local facilitator nominated by the system to be visited and acceptable to the Accord. The facilitator must be fluent in both English and the local language.

#### 2. Provisional status reviews

Reviews of systems holding provisional status shall be conducted by a team of two people representing the Accord (one educator and one practitioner) and a local facilitator, nominated by the system to be visited and acceptable to the Accord. The facilitator must be fluent in both English and the local language.

#### 3. Advisory reviews

Optional advisory reviews shall be conducted by one person drawn from the Accord pool of experts and a local facilitator nominated by the system to be visited and acceptable to the Accord. The facilitator must be fluent in both English and the local language.

#### 2.5 Report Policies and Templates

All discussions concerning a review undertaken in accordance with these Rules and Procedures shall be held in confidence. At the conclusion of each review, the review team shall forward its report and recommendations to the Secretariat as soon as reasonably practicable and no later than sixty (60) days after the completion of the review visit. Report templates are shown at Appendices B-D.

#### a. Periodic and provisional status reviews

Following a periodic review or a provisional status review the recommendation of the team is to be reported only to the signatory systems, not to the system visited.

A copy of the report and recommendation shall be furnished to each signatory system through the Secretariat.

An affirmative unanimous vote, less one of the signatory systems is required to ratify the recommendations of the review team.

#### b. Advisory reviews

Following an advisory review, the report is furnished to the system visited, not the signatory systems. If at a later date an applicant opts to use the advisory visit report as part of the evidence presented when applying for provisional status, then the report will be circulated by the Secretariat to the signatory systems.

#### 3.0 General Meetings

A General Meeting of representatives of the signatory systems shall normally be held at least every two years at a time and place selected by the Secretariat, or by teleconference, following appropriate consultation with the signatory systems. Items for discussion at a General Meeting should be submitted to the Secretariat at least two months prior to the meeting, and the agenda and business papers should normally be distributed to the signatory systems at least one month prior to the meeting.

When agreement has been made to meet face-to-face, the time and place of the General Meeting shall, so far as practicable, be such as to minimize overall travel costs and carbon footprint for those representing the signatory systems. Where convenient, the General Meeting may be arranged to follow or precede a major international conference or similar event.

Each signatory system will arrange for at least one representative and a maximum of three, to attend the General Meeting. At a General Meeting, each signatory system shall have one vote on any voting decision, which should be exercised by one nominated representative. Signatory systems should recognize that substantive votes will be taken at the general meetings and authorize their delegate to represent the interests of their system. A simple majority will suffice for a decision on any matter, unless otherwise specified in the Accord or in these *Rules and Procedures*.

In the interests of continuity and consistency, signatory systems are expected to nominate at least one representative who will attend at least three consecutive general meetings, rather than sending different individuals to each meeting.

When a General Meeting is to be hosted by a signatory system, arrangements for the meeting will be agreed between the Secretariat and the host organization. The cost of long-distance travel and local accommodation for representatives attending the General Meeting shall be borne by the relevant representatives' organizations; the main costs of hosting the meeting (local travel, meeting rooms, related refreshments, administrative support, and other incidental expenditures) shall be borne normally by the host agency.

#### 4.0 Chair

At the conclusion of each General Meeting, a signatory system shall be appointed by the signatory systems to provide the Chair, and the person nominated by that system shall hold office until the conclusion of the next succeeding General Meeting. No system that has nominated the Chair for one period between General Meetings shall be responsible for nominating the Chair for the next such period.

The role of the Chair is to lead the General Meeting and to ensure the business of the meeting is dealt with in accordance with the Accord and the *Rules and Procedures*. Between general meetings, the Chair will act as a point of contact and sounding board for the Secretariat and others, for the proper running of the Accord.

In all circumstances, when the Chair is also acting as the representative of one of the signatory systems, he/she shall be entitled to one vote only and is not entitled to an additional casting vote, should there be a split vote on any matter. The Chair is only entitled to vote if s/he is representing a signatory system with voting rights.

#### 5.0 Secretariat

At the conclusion of the first General Meeting, on the basis of a majority vote, a system shall be appointed by the signatory systems to provide the Secretariat, in order to administer the business of the Accord. The appointment shall be made to a system that has a mandate to take on the role and can show that it has access to adequate resources to fulfill the functions of the Secretariat effectively. This initial appointment shall be for a minimum period of four years. After four years, at the end of the General Meeting, the signatory systems shall decide, on the basis of a majority vote, whether to renew the appointment of the same signatory system to provide the Secretariat for a further period of two years, renewable every two years, for up to a maximum of twelve years.

When there is a change to the signatory system appointed to provide the Secretariat, the appointment shall be as above, that is, for an initial period of four years, renewable every two years by majority agreement of signatory systems at the General Meeting, up to a maximum period of twelve years.

The Chair and the Secretariat may come from the same or different signatory systems.

The Secretariat shall be responsible for the following activities in support of the Accord:

- 1. Maintain a record of the deliberations and decisions at each General Meeting.
- 2. Facilitate and record exchanges of information between the signatory systems.
- 3. Maintain the Accord website.
- 4. Undertake periodic evaluations and analyses of the conditions, criteria, and procedures used by each signatory system.
- 5. Undertake periodic analyses of the effect of the Accord on the profession within signatory systems.
- 6. Advise signatory systems and others as to the policies and procedures to be adopted to give effect to the terms of the Accord.
- Advocacy and promotion of the Accord for the recognition, by regulators
  of architects, of the professional degree qualifications covered by the
  Accord.

Arrangements for financial support by the signatory systems for the Secretariat shall be agreed at each General Meeting.

#### 6.0 Communications and Promotion of the Accord

The Secretariat shall be responsible for maintaining an Accord website. This website shall provide all current Accord documentation; details of signatory systems; an upto date list of all professional degrees currently accredited/validated/recognized by signatory systems and recognized by the Accord; contact details; and any other relevant information and web-links deemed appropriate from time-to-time.

The normal method of communication between signatory systems and the Secretariat shall be by electronic mail. Meetings (between General Meetings) on specific matters best dealt with by dialogue shall normally be by telephone conference or similar means.

The Secretariat shall be responsible for communication with the media, through press releases and other means as appropriate; and shall ensure that the global community of organizations responsible for architectural education and its accreditation/validation/recognition are made aware of the Canberra Accord, its principles and objectives and the processes for the admission of new signatory systems to the Accord.

The Secretariat will be expected to take on the role of advocate for the recognition, by regulators of architects, of the professional degree qualifications covered by the Accord. Guidance on the nature and level of this activity should be agreed by the signatory systems at general meetings.

All communications shall be in English.

#### **APPENDIX A: Schedule of First Round of Periodic Reviews**

By July 2010

Consejo Mexicano De Acreditación de la Enseñanza de la Arquitectura (COMAEA)

Korea Architectural Accrediting Board (KAAB)

By April 2011

National Board of Architectural Accreditation of China (NBAA)

By April 2012

Canadian Architectural Certification Board/Conseil canadien de certification en architecture (CACB/CCCA)

By April 2013

National Architectural Accrediting Board of the US (NAAB)

By April 2014

Commonwealth Association of Architects (CAA)

By April 2015

Australian Institute of Architects (RAIA)

# **APPENDIX B: Periodic Review Report Template**

## CONFIDENTIAL

## **Canberra Accord on Architectural Education**

Type of Report: Periodic Review
Name of Accreditation/Validation/Recognition System Reviewed:
Dates of Review Visit(s):
Date of Review Report:
Status/Edition: (draft/final/confirmed)

#### B. 1. Introduction

a) Summary

[This section should include some context for the review: who made the request, when, and under what circumstances. Also please identify all visits upon which the report is based (university, organization, etc.)]

b) Reviewers

[Enter name(s) and contact details]

#### B. 2. Compliance

a) Recommendation to Canberra Accord signatory systems: [Recommendations open to reviewers:

1. that the accreditation/validation/recognition system in question be accepted by the other signatory systems, for a period of **six years**, as leading to outcomes substantially equivalent to those from the other signatory systems;

Of

 that the accreditation/validation/recognition system in question be accepted by the other signatory systems, for a period of not more than three years, subject to the responsible signatory system providing, within six months, a report which satisfies the other signatory systems that adequate steps are being taken to address the specific deficiencies or concerns identified by the review team;

or

- 3. that the accreditation/validation/recognition system in question has such serious deficiencies with respect to the characteristics, principles, and/or criteria required of a signatory system, that the signatory system reverts immediately to provisional status.
- b) Operational and educational output standards [Say whether the overall operational and educational output standards were or were not found to be substantially equivalent to those of other signatory systems in the Canberra Accord.]
- c) Compliance with criteria for substantial equivalence [List here any criteria not substantially equivalent with comments below in section B. 3 on confirmation, or not, after each individual criterion.]

# B. 3. Characteristics, Principles and Criteria for Assessing Substantial Equivalency

[Comment under each item in sections I-V on whether adequate compliance has been met/not met]

#### I. General Characteristics

Organizations running accreditation/validation/recognition systems covered by the Accord are expected to have the following general characteristics:

a) be named organizations (authorities, agencies, or institutions) that are representative of the architecture profession and which have statutory powers or recognized professional authority for

accrediting/validating/recognizing program/mes designed to satisfy the academic requirements for admission to the profession in the locality where accreditation/validation/recognition takes place, subject to additional requirements imposed by local regulations and practice requirements;

- b) be independent of the academic institutions, professional organizations, and government agencies delivering accredited/validated/recognized program/mes within their jurisdiction;
- have an active, robust accreditation/validation/recognition system in place, with established processes, procedures, and practices that are welldocumented;
- d) have a record of accomplishment in accreditation/validation/recognition with sufficient experience and magnitude of operation (normally a minimum of five programs over at least seven years).

#### **II. Common Agreed Principles**

Systems for the accreditation/validation/recognition of architecture program/mes are expected to be underpinned by common agreed principles such as:

- a) the system must operate at all times in accordance with a high standard of professionalism, ethics, and objectivity;
- b) the process must be transparent and consistent;
- the activities must be conducted in relation to individual program/mes in confidence and with firmly established procedures and conditions for objective and consistent evaluation;
- d) those involved in the accreditation/validation/recognition process must be knowledgeable and competent in matters related to architectural accreditation/validation/recognition, education, and practice;
- e) accreditation/validation/recognition is of individual program/mes/academic awards/qualifications and not of institutions;
- f) evaluations of specified academic program/mes are conducted by peer reviewers and must include review of the program/me's self-evaluation documents, a site visit, and inspection of student work;
- g) the standard of students' work should be the main criterion in determining accreditation/validation/recognition;
- h) levels of physical, financial, human, and information resources should be appropriate to the context of the institution.

#### III. Criteria for Accreditation/Validation/Recognition

The criteria for accreditation/validation/recognition should address the following:

- a) a suitable environment to deliver the program/me;
- b) adequate leadership for the program/me;
- c) suitably qualified people teaching in the program/me;
- d) a curriculum providing a broad preparation for architectural practice;
- e) appropriate entry, progression, and exit standards;
- f) adequate human, physical, and financial resources to support the program/me;
- g) periodic re-evaluation to maintain accreditation/validation/recognition status;
- h) a period of academic study at, or in association with, a university/tertiary-level institution sufficient to demonstrate skills, abilities, attitudes and knowledge at a defined standard adequate for initial entry to the architecture profession; in order to gain the balanced acquisition of subjects and capabilities, this period of academic study should be not less than the equivalent of five years full-time studies.

# IV. International Network of Quality Assurance Agencies in Higher Education (INQAAHE) *Guidelines of Good Practice*

As External Quality Assurance Agencies (EQAA), signatory systems should embrace the key principles of the *Guidelines of Good Practice* (2005 ed.).

#### The EQAA:

- a) has a written mission statement or set of objectives that takes into account its cultural and historical context.
- b) has adequate and accessible human and financial resources to conduct external evaluation effectively and efficiently in accordance with its mission statement and its methodological approach.
- c) has a system of continuous quality assurance of its own activities that emphasizes flexibility in response to the changing nature of higher education, the effectiveness of its operations, and its contribution towards the achievement of its objectives.
- d) informs and responds to the public in accordance with applicable legislation and the cultural context of the EOAA.
- e) recognizes that institutional and programmatic quality and quality assurance are primarily the responsibility of the higher education institutions themselves; respects the academic autonomy, identity and integrity of the institutions or programs; applies standards or criteria that have been subject to reasonable consultation with stakeholders; and aims

to contribute to both quality improvement and accountability of the institution.

- f) has documents that indicate clearly what the EQAA expects of the institution.
- g) has documentation concerning self-evaluation which explains the purposes, procedures, process and expectations in the self-evaluation process. The documents also include the standards used, the decision criteria, the reporting format, and other information needed by the higher education institution.
- h) has clear documentation concerning the external evaluation that states the standards used, assessment methods and processes, decision criteria, and other information necessary for external review.
- evaluations address both the higher education institution's own selfassessment and external reference points, such as judgments by knowledgeable peers or relevant legislation.
- j) has appropriate methods and policies for appeals.
- k) collaborates with other EQAAs, if possible, in areas such as exchange of good practices, capacity building, review of decisions, provision of transnational education, joint projects, and staff exchanges.
- I) has policies relating to both imported and exported higher education.

#### V. UNESCO-UIA Charter for Architectural Education

A balance between benchmarking appropriate international standards and encouraging a variety of approach are central to the principles of the Accord.

- In any system of accreditation/validation/recognition it is of prime importance to establish the standards of achievement to be attained and the means of assessment through peer group review.
- Of equal importance is the need to encourage diversity, innovation, and development.

Signatory systems should ensure the acquisition of generic student skills, knowledge, and competencies including the following, identified in the *Charter*.

- a) An ability to create architectural designs that satisfy both aesthetic and technical requirements.
- b) An adequate knowledge of the history and theories of architecture and the related arts, technologies, and human sciences.
- c) Knowledge of the fine arts as an influence on the quality of architectural design.

- d) An adequate knowledge of urban design, planning, and the skills involved in the planning process.
- e) An understanding of the relationship between people and buildings, and between buildings and their environment, and of the need to relate buildings and the spaces between them to human needs and scale.
- f) An understanding of the profession of architecture and the role of the architect in society, in particular in preparing briefs that take into account social factors.
- g) An understanding of the methods of investigation and preparation of the brief for a design project.
- h) An understanding of the structural design, constructional, and engineering problems associated with building design.
- An adequate knowledge of physical problems and technologies and of the function of buildings so as to provide them with internal conditions of comfort and protection against the climate.
- j) The design skills necessary to meet building users' requirements within the constraints imposed by cost factors and building regulations.
- k) An adequate knowledge of the industries, organizations, regulations, and procedures involved in translating design concepts into buildings and integrating plans into overall planning.
- I) Awareness of responsibilities toward human, social, cultural, urban, architectural, and environmental values, as well as architectural heritage.
- m) Adequate knowledge of the means of achieving ecologically sustainable design and environmental conservation and rehabilitation.
- n) Development of a creative competence in building techniques, founded on a comprehensive understanding of the disciplines and construction methods related to architecture.
- o) Adequate knowledge of project financing, project management, cost control, and methods of project delivery.
- p) Training in research techniques as an inherent part of architectural learning, for both students and teachers.

#### B. 4. Commentary

a) Self evaluation by signatory system [Brief comments on documents provided]

- Refer to any changes to system mapped against Accord compliance criteria (see section 1.0 of Rules and Procedures) and any recent challenges to system
- c) Other documentation by signatory system
- d) Accreditation/validation/recognition visit by signatory system
- e) Meetings with representatives of signatory system
- f) Overview of criteria, policies, and procedures of the system [A brief executive summary]
- g) Conclusion [Identify critical issues for the system in the near future (1-5 years)]

#### **B. 5. Attachments**

- a) Documentation provided prior to the review visit [List only; full documentation will be posted electronically]
- b) Additional information supplied during the review visit [List only; full documentation will be posted electronically]
- c) Review visit agenda and record of meetings [Synopsis only]

Accord Reviewer Representing Practice	
<b>3</b>	
Accord Reviewer Representing Education	
record Reviewer Representing Education	

B. 6. Report Signatures

# **APPENDIX C: Provisional Review Report Template**

# CONFIDENTIAL

# **Canberra Accord on Architectural Education**

Type of Report: <b>Provisional Review</b>
Name of Accreditation/Validation/Recognition System Reviewed:
Dates of Review Visit(s):
Date of Review Report:
Status/Edition: (draft/final/confirmed)

#### C.1. Introduction

a) Summary

[This section should include some context for the review: who made the request, when, and under what circumstances. Also please identify all visits upon which the report is based (university, organization, etc.)]

b) Reviewers

[Enter names and contact details]

#### C.2. Compliance

a) Recommendation to Canberra Accord signatory systems: [Recommendations open to reviewers:

- that the accreditation/validation/recognition system being reviewed should be accepted by the other signatory systems as leading to outcomes substantially equivalent to those of existing signatory systems, and that the system be transferred from provisional to signatory status for a period of six years; or
- 2. that the accreditation/validation/recognition system being reviewed should not be accepted by the signatory systems as being substantially equivalent to the existing signatory systems and that the system should **continue to**have provisional status for a further period of two years.

Where transfer to signatory status is not recommended, details should be provided of the actions required by the system before it will be considered for further review by the Accord.]

b) Operational and educational output standards

[Say whether the overall operational and educational output standards were or were not found to be substantially equivalent to those of other signatory systems in the Canberra Accord.]

c) Compliance with criteria for substantial equivalence [List here any criteria not substantially equivalent with comments below in section C.3 on confirmation, or not, after each individual criterion.]

# C.3. Characteristics, Principles, and Criteria for Assessing Substantial Equivalency

[Comment under each item in sections I-V on whether adequate compliance has been met/not met]

### I. General Characteristics

Organizations running accreditation/validation/recognition systems covered by the Accord are expected to have the following general characteristics:

a) be named organizations (authorities, agencies, or institutions) that are representative of the architecture profession and which have statutory powers or recognized professional authority for accrediting/validating/recognizing program/mes designed to satisfy the academic requirements for admission to the profession in the locality where accreditation/validation/recognition takes place, subject to

- additional requirements imposed by local regulations and practice requirements;
- b) be independent of the academic institutions, professional organizations, and government agencies delivering accredited/validated/recognized program/mes within their jurisdiction;
- have an active, robust accreditation/validation/recognition system in place, with established processes, procedures, and practices that are welldocumented;
- d) have a record of accomplishment in accreditation/validation/recognition with sufficient experience and magnitude of operation (normally a minimum of five programs over at least seven years).

#### **II. Common Agreed Principles**

Systems for the accreditation/validation/recognition of architecture program/mes are expected to be underpinned by common agreed principles such as:

- a) the system must operate at all times in accordance with a high standard of professionalism, ethics, and objectivity;
- b) the process must be transparent and consistent;
- the activities must be conducted in relation to individual program/mes in confidence and with firmly established procedures and conditions for objective and consistent evaluation;
- d) those involved in the accreditation/validation/recognition process must be knowledgeable and competent in matters related to architectural accreditation/validation/recognition, education, and practice;
- e) accreditation/validation/recognition is of individual program/mes/academic awards/qualifications and not of institutions;
- evaluations of specified academic program/mes are conducted by peer reviewers and must include review of the program/me's self-evaluation documents, a site visit, and inspection of student work;
- g) the standard of students' work should be the main criterion in determining accreditation/validation/recognition;
- h) levels of physical, financial, human, and information resources should be appropriate to the context of the institution.

### III. Criteria for Accreditation/Validation/Recognition

The criteria for accreditation/validation/recognition should address the following:

a) a suitable environment to deliver the program/me;

- b) adequate leadership for the program/me;
- c) suitably qualified people teaching in the program/me;
- d) a curriculum providing a broad preparation for architectural practice;
- e) appropriate entry, progression, and exit standards;
- f) adequate human, physical, and financial resources to support the program/me;
- g) periodic re-evaluation to maintain accreditation/validation/recognition status;
- h) a period of academic study at, or in association with, a university/tertiary-level institution sufficient to demonstrate skills, abilities, attitudes and knowledge at a defined standard adequate for initial entry to the architecture profession; in order to gain the balanced acquisition of subjects and capabilities, this period of academic study should be not less than the equivalent of five years full-time studies.

# IV. International Network of Quality Assurance Agencies in Higher Education (INQAAHE) *Guidelines of Good Practice*

As External Quality Assurance Agencies (EQAA), signatory systems should embrace the key principles of the *Guidelines of Good Practice* (2005 ed.).

#### The EQAA:

- a) has a written mission statement or set of objectives that takes into account its cultural and historical context.
- b) has adequate and accessible human and financial resources to conduct external evaluation effectively and efficiently in accordance with its mission statement and its methodological approach.
- c) has a system of continuous quality assurance of its own activities that emphasizes flexibility in response to the changing nature of higher education, the effectiveness of its operations, and its contribution towards the achievement of its objectives.
- d) informs and responds to the public in accordance with applicable legislation and the cultural context of the EQAA.
- e) recognizes that institutional and programmatic quality and quality assurance are primarily the responsibility of the higher education institutions themselves; respects the academic autonomy, identity and integrity of the institutions or programs; applies standards or criteria that have been subject to reasonable consultation with stakeholders; and aims to contribute to both quality improvement and accountability of the institution.

- f) has documents that indicate clearly what the EQAA expects of the institution.
- g) has documentation concerning self-evaluation which explains the purposes, procedures, process and expectations in the self-evaluation process. The documents also include the standards used, the decision criteria, the reporting format, and other information needed by the higher education institution.
- h) has clear documentation concerning the external evaluation that states the standards used, assessment methods and processes, decision criteria, and other information necessary for external review.
- evaluations address both the higher education institution's own selfassessment and external reference points, such as judgments by knowledgeable peers or relevant legislation.
- j) has appropriate methods and policies for appeals.
- k) collaborates with other EQAAs, if possible, in areas such as exchange of good practices, capacity building, review of decisions, provision of transnational education, joint projects, and staff exchanges.
- I) has policies relating to both imported and exported higher education.

#### V. UNESCO-UIA Charter for Architectural Education

A balance between benchmarking appropriate international standards and encouraging a variety of approach are central to the principles of the Accord.

- In any system of accreditation/validation/recognition it is of prime importance to establish the standards of achievement to be attained and the means of assessment through peer group review.
- Of equal importance is the need to encourage diversity, innovation, and development.

Signatory systems should ensure the acquisition of generic student skills, knowledge, and competencies including the following, identified in the *Charter*:

- a) An ability to create architectural designs that satisfy both aesthetic and technical requirements.
- b) An adequate knowledge of the history and theories of architecture and the related arts, technologies, and human sciences.
- c) Knowledge of the fine arts as an influence on the quality of architectural design.
- d) An adequate knowledge of urban design, planning, and the skills involved in the planning process.

- e) An understanding of the relationship between people and buildings, and between buildings and their environment, and of the need to relate buildings and the spaces between them to human needs and scale.
- f) An understanding of the profession of architecture and the role of the architect in society, in particular in preparing briefs that take into account social factors.
- g) An understanding of the methods of investigation and preparation of the brief for a design project.
- h) An understanding of the structural design, constructional, and engineering problems associated with building design.
- An adequate knowledge of physical problems and technologies and of the function of buildings so as to provide them with internal conditions of comfort and protection against the climate.
- j) The design skills necessary to meet building users' requirements within the constraints imposed by cost factors and building regulations.
- k) An adequate knowledge of the industries, organizations, regulations, and procedures involved in translating design concepts into buildings and integrating plans into overall planning.
- I) Awareness of responsibilities toward human, social, cultural, urban, architectural, and environmental values, as well as architectural heritage.
- m) Adequate knowledge of the means of achieving ecologically sustainable design and environmental conservation and rehabilitation.
- n) Development of a creative competence in building techniques, founded on a comprehensive understanding of the disciplines and construction methods related to architecture.
- o) Adequate knowledge of project financing, project management, cost control, and methods of project delivery.
- p) Training in research techniques as an inherent part of architectural learning, for both students and teachers.

## C. 4. Commentary

- a) Self evaluation by system applying for signatory status [Brief comments on documents provided]
- Refer to any changes to system mapped against Accord compliance criteria (see section 1.0 of Rules and Procedures) and any recent challenges to system
- c) Other documentation by system

- d) Accreditation/validation/recognition visit by system
- e) Meetings with representatives of system
- f) Overview of criteria, policies and procedures of the system [A brief executive summary]
- g) Conclusion [Identify critical issues for the system in the near future (1-5 years)]

#### C. 5. Attachments

- a) Documentation provided prior to the review visit [List only; full documentation will be posted electronically]
- b) Additional information supplied during the review visit [List only; full documentation will be posted electronically]
- c) Review visit agenda and record of meetings [Synopsis only]

Accord Reviewer Representing Practice
Accord Devices Democratics Education
Accord Reviewer Representing Education
Local Facilitator

C. 6. Report Signatures

# **APPENDIX D: Advisory Review Report Template**

# CONFIDENTIAL

# **Canberra Accord on Architectural Education**

Type of Report: Advisory Review
Name of Accreditation/Validation/Recognition System Reviewed:
Dates of Review Visit(s):
Date of Review Report:
Status/Edition: (draft/final/confirmed)

#### D.1. Introduction

a) Summary

[This section should include some context for the review: who made the request, when, and under what circumstances. Also please identify all visits upon which the report is based (university, organization, etc.)]

b) Reviewer(s) [Enter name(s) and contact details]

## D.2. Compliance

- a) Recommendations to system reviewed [Choices here might include application for provisional review, further development of system, mentoring by signatory systems, etc.]
- b) Operational and educational output standards [Say whether the overall operational and educational output standards were or were not found to be substantially equivalent to those of other signatory systems in the Canberra Accord.]
- c) Compliance with criteria for substantial equivalence [List here any criteria not substantially equivalent with comments below in section D.3 on confirmation, or not, after each individual criterion.]

# D.3. Characteristics, Principles, and Criteria for Assessing Substantial Equivalency

[Comment under each item in sections I-V on whether adequate compliance has been met/not met]

#### I. General Characteristics

Organizations running accreditation/validation/recognition systems covered by the Accord are expected to have the following general characteristics:

- a) be named organizations (authorities, agencies, or institutions) that are representative of the architecture profession and which have statutory powers or recognized professional authority for accrediting/validating/recognizing program/mes designed to satisfy the academic requirements for admission to the profession in the locality where accreditation/validation/recognition takes place, subject to additional requirements imposed by local regulations and practice requirements;
- b) be independent of the academic institutions, professional organizations, and government agencies delivering accredited/validated/recognized program/mes within their jurisdiction;
- have an active, robust accreditation/validation/recognition system in place, with established processes, procedures, and practices that are welldocumented;

d) have a record of accomplishment in accreditation/validation/recognition with sufficient experience and magnitude of operation (normally a minimum of five programs over at least seven years).

### **II. Common Agreed Principles**

Systems for the accreditation/validation/recognition of architecture program/mes are expected to be underpinned by common agreed principles such as:

- a) the system must operate at all times in accordance with a high standard of professionalism, ethics, and objectivity;
- b) the process must be transparent and consistent;
- the activities must be conducted in relation to individual program/mes in confidence and with firmly established procedures and conditions for objective and consistent evaluation;
- d) those involved in the accreditation/validation/recognition process must be knowledgeable and competent in matters related to architectural accreditation/validation/recognition, education, and practice;
- e) accreditation/validation/recognition is of individual program/mes/academic awards/qualifications and not of institutions;
- f) evaluations of specified academic program/mes are conducted by peer reviewers and must include review of the program/me's self-evaluation documents, a site visit, and inspection of student work;
- g) the standard of students' work should be the main criterion in determining accreditation/validation/recognition;
- h) levels of physical, financial, human, and information resources should be appropriate to the context of the institution.

### III. Criteria for Accreditation/Validation/Recognition

The criteria for accreditation/validation/recognition should address the following:

- a) a suitable environment to deliver the program/me;
- b) adequate leadership for the program/me;
- c) suitably qualified people teaching in the program/me;
- d) a curriculum providing a broad preparation for architectural practice;
- e) appropriate entry, progression, and exit standards;
- f) adequate human, physical, and financial resources to support the program/me;

- g) periodic re-evaluation to maintain accreditation/validation/recognition status;
- h) a period of academic study at, or in association with, a university/tertiary-level institution sufficient to demonstrate skills, abilities, attitudes and knowledge at a defined standard adequate for initial entry to the architecture profession; in order to gain the balanced acquisition of subjects and capabilities, this period of academic study should be not less than the equivalent of five years full-time studies.

# IV. International Network of Quality Assurance Agencies in Higher Education (INQAAHE) *Guidelines of Good Practice*

As External Quality Assurance Agencies (EQAA), signatory systems should embrace the key principles of the *Guidelines of Good Practice* (2005 ed.).

### The EQAA:

- a) has a written mission statement or set of objectives that takes into account its cultural and historical context.
- b) has adequate and accessible human and financial resources to conduct external evaluation effectively and efficiently in accordance with its mission statement and its methodological approach.
- c) has a system of continuous quality assurance of its own activities that emphasizes flexibility in response to the changing nature of higher education, the effectiveness of its operations, and its contribution towards the achievement of its objectives.
- d) informs and responds to the public in accordance with applicable legislation and the cultural context of the EQAA.
- e) recognizes that institutional and programmatic quality and quality assurance are primarily the responsibility of the higher education institutions themselves; respects the academic autonomy, identity and integrity of the institutions or programs; applies standards or criteria that have been subject to reasonable consultation with stakeholders; and aims to contribute to both quality improvement and accountability of the institution.
- f) has documents that indicate clearly what the EQAA expects of the institution.
- g) has documentation concerning self-evaluation which explains the purposes, procedures, process and expectations in the self-evaluation process. The documents also include the standards used, the decision criteria, the reporting format, and other information needed by the higher education institution.

- h) has clear documentation concerning the external evaluation that states the standards used, assessment methods and processes, decision criteria, and other information necessary for external review.
- evaluations address both the higher education institution's own selfassessment and external reference points, such as judgments by knowledgeable peers or relevant legislation.
- j) has appropriate methods and policies for appeals.
- k) collaborates with other EQAAs, if possible, in areas such as exchange of good practices, capacity building, review of decisions, provision of transnational education, joint projects, and staff exchanges.
- I) has policies relating to both imported and exported higher education.

#### V. UNESCO-UIA Charter for Architectural Education

A balance between benchmarking appropriate international standards and encouraging a variety of approach are central to the principles of the Accord.

- In any system of accreditation/validation/recognition it is of prime importance to establish the standards of achievement to be attained and the means of assessment through peer group review.
- Of equal importance is the need to encourage diversity, innovation, and development.

Signatory systems should ensure the acquisition of generic student skills, knowledge, and competencies including the following, identified in the *Charter*:

- a) An ability to create architectural designs that satisfy both aesthetic and technical requirements.
- b) An adequate knowledge of the history and theories of architecture and the related arts, technologies, and human sciences.
- c) Knowledge of the fine arts as an influence on the quality of architectural design.
- d) An adequate knowledge of urban design, planning, and the skills involved in the planning process.
- e) An understanding of the relationship between people and buildings, and between buildings and their environment, and of the need to relate buildings and the spaces between them to human needs and scale.
- f) An understanding of the profession of architecture and the role of the architect in society, in particular in preparing briefs that take into account social factors.

- g) An understanding of the methods of investigation and preparation of the brief for a design project.
- h) An understanding of the structural design, constructional, and engineering problems associated with building design.
- An adequate knowledge of physical problems and technologies and of the function of buildings so as to provide them with internal conditions of comfort and protection against the climate.
- j) The design skills necessary to meet building users' requirements within the constraints imposed by cost factors and building regulations.
- k) An adequate knowledge of the industries, organizations, regulations, and procedures involved in translating design concepts into buildings and integrating plans into overall planning.
- I) Awareness of responsibilities toward human, social, cultural, urban, architectural, and environmental values, as well as architectural heritage.
- m) Adequate knowledge of the means of achieving ecologically sustainable design and environmental conservation and rehabilitation.
- n) Development of a creative competence in building techniques, founded on a comprehensive understanding of the disciplines and construction methods related to architecture.
- o) Adequate knowledge of project financing, project management, cost control, and methods of project delivery.
- p) Training in research techniques as an inherent part of architectural learning, for both students and teachers.

#### D.4. Advice

## D.5. Commentary

- a) Self evaluation by system reviewed [Brief comments on documents provided]
- b) Refer to any recent challenges to system
- c) Other documentation by system
- d) Accreditation/validation/recognition visit by system
- e) Meetings with representatives of system
- f) Overview of criteria, policies, and procedures of the system [A brief executive summary]

g) Conclusion [Identify critical issues for the system in the near future (1-5 years)]

## D.6. Attachments

- a) Documentation provided prior to the advisory visit [List only]
- b) Additional information supplied during the advisory visit *[List only]*
- c) Advisory visit agenda and record of meetings [Synopsis only]

D. 7. Report Signatures		
Accord Reviewer	 	
Accord Reviewer		

# APPENDIX E: Characteristics, Principles, and Criteria for Assessing Substantial Equivalency

#### I. General Characteristics

Organizations running accreditation/validation/recognition systems covered by the Accord are expected to have the following general characteristics:

- a) be named organizations (authorities, agencies, or institutions) that are representative of the architecture profession and which have statutory powers or recognized professional authority for accrediting/validating/recognizing program/mes designed to satisfy the academic requirements for admission to the profession in the locality where accreditation/validation/recognition takes place, subject to additional requirements imposed by local regulations and practice requirements;
- b) be independent of the academic institutions, professional organizations, and government agencies delivering accredited/validated/recognized program/mes within their jurisdiction;
- have an active, robust accreditation/validation/recognition system in place, with established processes, procedures, and practices that are welldocumented;
- d) have a record of accomplishment in accreditation/validation/recognition with sufficient experience and magnitude of operation (normally a minimum of five programs over at least seven years).

#### **II. Common Agreed Principles**

Systems for the accreditation/validation/recognition of architecture program/mes are expected to be underpinned by common agreed principles such as:

- a) the system must operate at all times in accordance with a high standard of professionalism, ethics, and objectivity;
- b) the process must be transparent and consistent;
- the activities must be conducted in relation to individual program/mes in confidence and with firmly established procedures and conditions for objective and consistent evaluation;
- d) those involved in the accreditation/validation/recognition process must be knowledgeable and competent in matters related to architectural accreditation/validation/recognition, education, and practice;
- e) accreditation/validation/recognition is of individual program/mes/academic awards/qualifications and not of institutions;

- evaluations of specified academic program/mes are conducted by peer reviewers and must include review of the program/me's self-evaluation documents, a site visit, and inspection of student work;
- g) the standard of students' work should be the main criterion in determining accreditation/validation/recognition;
- h) levels of physical, financial, human, and information resources should be appropriate to the context of the institution.

## III. Criteria for Accreditation/Validation/Recognition

The criteria for accreditation/validation/recognition should address the following:

- a) a suitable environment to deliver the program/me;
- b) adequate leadership for the program/me;
- c) suitably qualified people teaching in the program/me;
- d) a curriculum providing a broad preparation for architectural practice;
- e) appropriate entry and progression standards;
- f) adequate human, physical, and financial resources to support the program/me;
- g) periodic re-evaluation to maintain accreditation/validation/recognition status;
- h) a period of academic study at, or in association with, a university/tertiary-level institution sufficient to demonstrate skills, abilities, attitudes and knowledge at a defined standard adequate for initial entry to the architecture profession; in order to gain the balanced acquisition of subjects and capabilities, this period of academic study should be not less than the equivalent of five years full-time studies.

# IV. International Network of Quality Assurance Agencies in Higher Education (INQAAHE) *Guidelines of Good Practice*

As External Quality Assurance Agencies (EQAA), signatory systems should embrace the key principles of the *Guidelines of Good Practice* (2005 ed.).

#### The EQAA:

- a) has a written mission statement or set of objectives that takes into account its cultural and historical context.
- b) has adequate and accessible human and financial resources to conduct external evaluation effectively and efficiently in accordance with its mission statement and its methodological approach.

- c) has a system of continuous quality assurance of its own activities that emphasizes flexibility in response to the changing nature of higher education, the effectiveness of its operations, and its contribution towards the achievement of its objectives.
- d) informs and responds to the public in accordance with applicable legislation and the cultural context of the EQAA.
- e) recognizes that institutional and programmatic quality and quality assurance are primarily the responsibility of the higher education institutions themselves; respects the academic autonomy, identity and integrity of the institutions or programs; applies standards or criteria that have been subject to reasonable consultation with stakeholders; and aims to contribute to both quality improvement and accountability of the institution.
- f) has documents that indicate clearly what the EQAA expects of the institution.
- g) has documentation concerning self-evaluation which explains the purposes, procedures, process and expectations in the self-evaluation process. The documents also include the standards used, the decision criteria, the reporting format, and other information needed by the higher education institution.
- h) has clear documentation concerning the external evaluation that states the standards used, assessment methods and processes, decision criteria, and other information necessary for external review.
- evaluations address both the higher education institution's own selfassessment and external reference points, such as judgments by knowledgeable peers or relevant legislation.
- j) has appropriate methods and policies for appeals.
- k) collaborates with other EQAAs, if possible, in areas such as exchange of good practices, capacity building, review of decisions, provision of transnational education, joint projects, and staff exchanges.
- I) has policies relating to both imported and exported higher education.

## V. UNESCO-UIA Charter for Architectural Education

A balance between benchmarking appropriate international standards and encouraging a variety of approach are central to the principles of the Accord.

- In any system of accreditation/validation/recognition it is of prime importance to establish the standards of achievement to be attained and the means of assessment through peer group review.
- Of equal importance is the need to encourage diversity, innovation, and development.

Signatory systems should ensure the acquisition of generic student skills, knowledge, and competencies including the following, identified in the *Charter*:

- a) An ability to create architectural designs that satisfy both aesthetic and technical requirements.
- b) An adequate knowledge of the history and theories of architecture and the related arts, technologies, and human sciences.
- c) Knowledge of the fine arts as an influence on the quality of architectural design.
- d) An adequate knowledge of urban design, planning, and the skills involved in the planning process.
- e) An understanding of the relationship between people and buildings, and between buildings and their environment, and of the need to relate buildings and the spaces between them to human needs and scale.
- f) An understanding of the profession of architecture and the role of the architect in society, in particular in preparing briefs that take into account social factors.
- g) An understanding of the methods of investigation and preparation of the brief for a design project.
- h) An understanding of the structural design, constructional, and engineering problems associated with building design.
- An adequate knowledge of physical problems and technologies and of the function of buildings so as to provide them with internal conditions of comfort and protection against the climate.
- j) The design skills necessary to meet building users' requirements within the constraints imposed by cost factors and building regulations.
- k) An adequate knowledge of the industries, organizations, regulations, and procedures involved in translating design concepts into buildings and integrating plans into overall planning.
- Awareness of responsibilities toward human, social, cultural, urban, architectural, and environmental values, as well as architectural heritage.
- m) Adequate knowledge of the means of achieving ecologically sustainable design and environmental conservation and rehabilitation.
- n) Development of a creative competence in building techniques, founded on a comprehensive understanding of the disciplines and construction methods related to architecture.

- o) Adequate knowledge of project financing, project management, cost control, and methods of project delivery.
- p) Training in research techniques as an inherent part of architectural learning, for both students and teachers.

# **APPENDIX F: Accepted Definitions/Glossary of Terms**

(Currently under development)

To include such terms as:

academic awards
accreditation/validation/recognition
brief (in the sense of what the US would call a program for a building design)
desktop
facilitator
program/me
signatory system
suitable environment
qualifications